IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI NO.: 2008-IA-01233-SCT

ROGER COLLINS, M.D. AND LEFLEUR FAMILY MEDICAL CLINIC

APPELLANTS/PETITIONERS

VS.

JEANNE HOLMES HICKS

APPELLEE/RESPONDENT

BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

INTERLOCUTORY APPEAL FROM DECISION OF THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT OF HINDS COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI CIVIL ACTION NO. 251-02-1171 CIV

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

PREPARED AND SUBMITTED BY:

WHITMAN B. JOHNSON III, MSB #3158 KRISTI D. KENNEDY, MSB #10658

OF COUNSEL:

CURRIE JOHNSON GRIFFIN GAINES & MYERS, P.A. 1044 River Oaks Drive (39232)
Post Office Box 750
Jackson, MS 39205-0750
Telephone: (601) 969-1010

Facsimile: (601) 969-5120

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

Whether Jeanne Holmes Hicks is entitled to go forward with her case despite the fact that she did not file suit against the appellants for allegedly causing her addictions until more than two (2) years after the date she admitted knowing that she was addicted to pain medication as evidenced by the fact she was obtaining multiple pain medications from multiple doctors through deception in violation of MISS. CODE ANN. § 41-29-144.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellee Jeanne Holmes Hicks initiated this action on September 6, 2002, by filing a suit for medical negligence against Appellants Roger Collins, M.D., and LeFleur Family Medical Clinic and others¹ in the Circuit Court of the First Judicial District of Hinds County, Mississippi. [R. 4]. In her suit, Ms. Hicks claimed that the conduct of Dr. Collins and the various defendants sued had resulted in her addiction to OxyContin.

Following various discovery, including Ms. Hicks' deposition, Dr. Collins moved the trial court for summary judgment on the basis that Ms. Hicks' claims were <u>barred by two separate</u> and independent grounds, either of which would have <u>warranted dismissal</u> of her claims against Dr. Collins. [R. 73]. Dr. Collins asserted that Ms. Hicks' claims against him were time-barred by Miss. Code Ann. § 15-1-36 because Ms. Hicks filed her complaint against him over two years after she was aware of her addiction to OxyContin. See Sutherland v. Ritter, 959 So. 2d 1004 (Miss. 2007). Further, Dr. Collins argued that Ms. Hicks' claims against him were <u>barred by her own unlawful conduct</u> in obtaining multiple narcotics prescriptions from multiple physicians through deception in violation of Miss. Code Ann. § 41-29-144. See Price v. Purdue Pharma Co., 920 So. 2d 479 (Miss. 2006).

After granting Ms. Hicks multiple extensions, a hearing finally took place before Hinds County Circuit Judge Winston Kidd on April 17, 2008. On June 26, 2008, an Order was entered summarily denying Dr. Collins' motion for summary judgment. [R. 132].

¹In her complaint, Ms. Hicks also named Purdue Pharma L.P.; Purdue Pharma, Inc.; The Purdue Frederick Co.; Abbott Laboratories; Abbott Laboratories, Inc.; and Walgreen Company. [R. 4]. Abbott Laboratories and Abbott Laboratories, Inc., were dismissed from this action by order of the trial court on April 19, 2005.

On July 17, 2008, Dr. Collins and LeFleur Family Medical Clinic petitioned this Court for permission to file an interlocutory appeal from this ruling. This Court granted Appellants' petition by Order dated September 3, 2008. Accordingly, Dr. Collins and LeFleur Family Medical Clinic have filed this appeal to respectfully request that this Court reverse the June 26, 2008 Order of the trial court denying Dr. Collins' motion for summary judgment and render a judgment dismissing Dr. Collins and LeFleur Family Medical Clinic² from this action with prejudice.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS RELEVANT TO APPEAL

Ms. Hicks was diagnosed with a broad based disc herniation at C5-6 with thecal sac and foraminal impingement on September 28, 1999, that ultimately required a discectomy at C5-6 around October 5, 1999. Despite surgery, Ms. Hicks continued to complain of neck and back pain.³ Dr. Collins treated Ms. Hicks for migraine headaches and for severe pain in her back and neck before and after this surgery. Dr. Collins' treatment of Ms. Hicks included prescriptions for OxyContin, which was appropriate given her medical condition.

Sometime prior to August 25, 2000, Ms. Hicks became aware that she was addicted to OxyContin and tried to detox herself with her husband. [R. 111 (page 126, line 21 – page 127, line 1); see also Appendix 1]. More than two years later on September 2, 2002, Ms. Hicks filed suit against Dr. Collins and LeFleur Family Medical Clinic, alleging that they negligently caused her

 $^{^2}$ Dr. Collins is employed by LeFleur Family Medical Clinic. LeFleur should be dismissed from this action per the Court's holding in J & J Timber Co. v. Broome, 932 So. 2d 1, 6 (¶6) (Miss. 2006) ("Where a party's suit against an employer is based on respondent superior, the vicarious liability claim itself is extinguished when the solely negligent employee is released.") Since dismissal of Dr. Collins effectively dismisses LeFleur Family Medical Clinic, only Dr. Collins will be referenced throughout this brief.

³On August 25, 2000, Dr. McGuire found that Ms. Hicks' graft had collapsed and that she had a kyphotic deformity and compensatory hyperlordosis at the C6-7. [R. 130-131; see also Appendix 3]. Ultimately, she had to have a second surgery on this area on or about January 23, 2001. [R. 95 (page 62, lines 7-12); R. 96 (page 67, lines 1-3)].

addiction to OxyContin. [R. 9-15, 22-25]. During her deposition taken in this case, Ms. Hicks admitted that she frequently took pain medications in doses and by methods other than those prescribed. [R. 99 (page 78, line 8 – page 79, line 7); R. 100 (page 83, lines 8-25); see also Appendix 1]. She also testified that she sought out additional physicians to obtain pain medication when her current physician refused to give her more. [R. 99 (page 80, lines 6-12); see also Appendix 1]. Ms. Hicks identified numerous physicians in her discovery responses that she was seeing simultaneously for pain management, along with multiple pharmacies at which she was getting her different pain medication prescription filled. [R. 118-120, 124-125; see also Appendix 2]. In order to obtain multiple prescriptions for pain medications, Ms. Hicks neglected to tell Dr. Collins and most of her many treating physicians that she was receiving narcotic pain medications from her other treating physicians. [R. 93 (page 54, lines 18-20); R. 94 (page 57, lines 17-19); R. 94 (page 60, lines 5-7); R. 95 (page 61, lines 11-18); see also Appendix 1].

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court's ruling denying Dr. Collins' motion for summary judgment was erroneous. This Court's precedent and the State of Mississippi's laws mandated summary judgment in favor of Dr. Collins on two grounds. First, the evidence was clear that Ms. Hicks' claims were barred by the statue of limitations found in MISS. CODE ANN. § 15-1-36. Ms. Hicks has admitted that she filed her lawsuit against the appellants more than two years after she became aware of her addiction to OxyContin. See Sutherland, 959 So. 2d 1004. Second, Ms. Hicks was barred from pursuing a claim against Dr. Collins due to her own wrongful conduct in obtaining narcotics through deception in violation of MISS. STAT. ANN § 41-29-144. See Price, 920 So. 2d 479. Ms. Hicks admitted in her deposition that she used fraud and deception to obtain multiple narcotic prescriptions from multiple physicians contrary to Mississippi law. Additionally, she admitted that she took prescription

medicine with greater frequency than prescribed, in larger does than prescribed, and by methods other than those prescribed by her doctors.

In rebuttal to Dr. Collins' motion for summary judgment, Ms. Hicks failed to demonstrate that a genuine issue of material fact existed as to when she became aware of her addiction or her conduct in obtaining OxyContin by fraud or deception. Accordingly, Dr. Collins was entitled to summary judgment as a matter of law on each of these grounds individually. However, when considered together, these grounds most certainly required the dismissal of Ms. Hicks' claims against Dr. Collins and LeFleur Family Medical Clinic. The trial court decision denying Dr. Collins' motion for summary judgment was reversible error. Accordingly, appellants respectfully request that this Court dismiss the claims of Ms. Hicks against Dr. Collins and LeFleur Family Medical Clinc with prejudice and render a judgment dismissing appellants from this action with prejudice.

ARGUMENT

I. Standard of Review

The standard of review for a lower court's decision on a motion for summary judgment under MISSISSIPPI RULE OF CIVIL PROCEDURE 56 is *de novo*. *McMillan v. Rodriguez*, 823 So. 2d 1173, 1176-1177 (Miss. 2002). Further, questions regarding the statute of limitations are questions of law which require a *de novo* standard of review. *Sheriff v. Morris*, 767 So. 2d 1062, 1064 (¶10) (Miss. Ct. App. 2006).

Summary judgment is proper when "the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." M.R.C.P. 56(c). See also Galloway v. Travelers Ins. Co., 515 So. 2d 678, 682 (Miss. 1987); Brown v. Credit Ctr., Inc., 444 So. 2d 358, 362 (Miss. 1983). To survive a motion for summary judgment, the

nonmoving party must establish a genuine issue of material fact. Spartan Foods Sys., Inc. v. American Nat'l Ins. Co., 582 So. 2d 399, 402 (Miss. 1991). "Mere allegations of facts are not sufficient to create a genuine issue of material fact sufficient to defeat a motion for summary judgment." Gorman-Rupp Co. v. Hall, 908 So. 2d 749, 757 (Miss. 2005). Likewise, claiming that additional discovery could reveal facts to support the plaintiffs' claims is not sufficient to overcome a motion for summary judgment. Washington v. Armstrong World Indus., Inc., 839 F.2d 1121, 1123 (5th Cir. 1988).

Under Rule 56, if the party opposing the motion for summary judgment is unable to show that she will be able to establish an essential element of his claim, the moving party is entitled to summary judgment. *Galloway*, 515 So. 2d at 683. Ms. Hicks was unable to demonstrate an issue of material fact so as to withstand Dr. Collins' motion for summary judgment, and her claims against Dr. Collins and LeFleur Family Medical Clinic should have been dismissed with prejudice.

II. Ms. Hicks' claims are barred because she did not file suit against the appellants for allegedly causing her addiction until more than two (2) years <u>after</u> the date she admitted knowing that she was addicted to pain medication as evidenced by the fact she was obtaining multiple pain medications from multiple doctors through deception in violation of MISS. CODE ANN. § 41-29-144.

MISSISSIPPI CODE ANNOTATED § 15-1-36(2) provides that "[N]o claim in tort may be brought against a licensed physician . . . unless it is filed within two (2) years from the date the alleged act, omission or neglect shall or with reasonable diligence might have been first known or discovered." In determining whether or not the statute of limitations has expired, the focus is on when the plaintiff discovered that she had an actionable injury or should have discovered it by exercising reasonable diligence. Smith v. Sanders, 485 So. 2d 1051, 1052 (Miss. 1986). The operative time is when the patient can reasonably be held to have knowledge of the injury itself, the cause of the injury, and the causative relationship between the injury and the conduct of the medical practitioner." Smith, 485

ACT 15 Rx Med - Act was Know on late TX he knew of additional medical practitioner." Smith,

So. 2d at 1052. If a plaintiff neglects to file her complaint within two years of the date she becomes aware of or discovers her alleged injury, its cause, and the person allegedly responsible, her claim is barred. *Powe v. Byrd*, 892 So. 2d 223, 227 (¶16) (Miss. 2004); *Joiner v. Phillips*, 953 So. 2d 1123, 1126 (¶6) (Miss. 2007); *Sutherland*, 959 So. 2d at 1009 (¶16-17); *Jackson Clinic for Women v. Henley*, 965 So. 2d 643, 650 (¶15) (Miss. 2007) ("[T]he plaintiff's own suspicions regarding possible negligent conduct starts the clock running.")

Ms. Hicks' claims against Dr. Collins and LeFleur Family Medical Clinic are barred by the statute of limitations because the evidence in this case clearly demonstrates that Ms. Hicks had knowledge of her injury (pain medicine addiction), its cause (pain medication), and the person allegedly responsible (Dr. Collins) more than two years before she filed suit.

The first and second factors to consider in determining when the statute of limitations began to run – knowledge of injury and its cause – show that Ms. Hicks had the requisite knowledge more than two years before she filed suit. This is evidenced by Ms. Hicks' own admissions in her deposition testimony, in which she stated:

- Q. Okay. When did you first talk to your parents about feeling you were you had a problem with medication?
- A. I really don't recall.
- Q. Okay.... Did you talk with them prior to the time you saw Dr. McGuire?
- A. Yes.
- Q. Okay.
- A. Yes.
- Q. All right. And I think, from looking at the records, you first saw Dr. McGuire in late August of 2000?
- A. I can't -
- Q. <u>Do you believe you talked to your parents before you saw Dr.</u> McGuire?
- A. That's correct.
- Q. And told them you thought you had a problem with pain medication?
- A. I did.

- Q. That you specifically had a problem with the OxyContin?
- A. OxyContin.

[R. 110 (page 124, line 13) through R. 111 (page 125, line 10); see also Appendix 1] (emphasis added).

- Q. Okay. All right. But you feel comfortable in [sic] own mind, before you ever saw Dr. McGuire the first time, your recollection is you had already come to the conclusion you had a problem with OxyContin and you had actually even tried to detox yourself with your husband?
- A. Yes, sir.

[R. 111 (page 126, line 21 – page 127, line 1); see also Appendix 1] (emphasis added).

From this testimony, it is clear that Ms. Hicks knew she was addicted to OxyContin, i.e., had knowledge of her alleged injury and its cause, before her first visit to see Dr. Robert A. McGuire, Jr., an orthopaedic specialist in Jackson, Mississippi. [R. 110-111; see also Appendix 1]. Ms. Hicks' undisputed medical records reveal that this date was August 25, 2000. [R.130-131; see also Appendix 3].

Further, the third factor for determining when the statute of limitations began to run – knowledge of the person allegedly responsible – also indicates that Ms. Hicks had the requisite knowledge more than two years before she filed suit. The fact that Ms. Hicks knew that Dr. Collins prescribed OxyContin for her more than two years prior to the date she filed suit is undisputed and was admitted by Ms. Hicks in her discovery responses and complaint. [R.118-119, 122; see also Appendix 2] ("Dr. Roger Collins prescribed OxyContin® to the plaintiff [Jeanne Holmes Hicks]."); [R. 10] ("Dr. Roger Collins and/or Lefluer Family Medical Clinic prescribed narcotic pain

⁴In her response to an interrogatory asking her to list the names and addresses of any doctors she was seeing for pain management prior to December 1998, Ms. Hicks named Dr. Collins by reference to another interrogatory. [R. 120; see also Appendix 2].

medications, and specifically on or about September 24, 1999, prescribed the narcotic drug OxyContin.")

As shown by the evidence, Ms. Hicks has <u>admitted</u> in her complaint, sworn deposition testimony, and sworn discovery responses that she had knowledge of her alleged injury (her addiction), its cause (pain medication), and the person allegedly responsible (Dr. Collins) prior to August 25, 2000, which was more than two years before she filed her complaint on September 6, 2002. As a result, the statute of limitations for Ms. Hicks' claims expired prior to her filing suit, and her claims against Dr. Collins and LeFleur Family Medical Clinic are barred by the statute of limitations found in MISS. CODE ANN. § 15-1-36.

Moreover, Mississippi Supreme Court precedent, particularly this Court's decision in Sutherland v. Ritter, 959 So. 2d 1004 (Miss. 2007), mandated that the lower court dismiss Ms. Hicks' claims against appellants. In Sutherland, the plaintiff filed suit against the Estate of Dr. Robert M. Ritter for negligently prescribing Zyprexa. 959 So. 2d at 1006 (¶5). In his deposition, Sutherland testified as follows:

- Q. Okay. Now, did you check yourself into [treatment] or were you checked in by someone?
- A. I checked myself.
- Q. Okay. And why did you check yourself in?
- A. The Zyprexa was destroying my life.
- Q. Okay. So you believed when you checked yourself in it was the Zyprexa?
- A. It was not a belief, it was a knowing.
- Q. Okay.
- A. It was knowledge of it.

Id. at 1005-6 (¶2) (emphasis added). Based upon Sutherland's admission in his testimony, the Supreme Court found that Sutherland "knew who, when, how, and by what he had been injured" by the date of his discharge from the treatment center, and that, as a result, the statute of limitations ran

prior to Sutherland's submission of a statutory notice of claim filed over 2 ½ years later. *Id.* at 1009 (¶16-17). The Supreme Court affirmed the trial court's ruling granting summary judgment in favor of the Estate of Dr. Ritter. *Id.* at 1009 (¶17).

Like the plaintiff in *Sutherland*, Ms. Hicks attempted to detoxify herself of the offensive medicine prescribed by the defendants more than two years before filing suit. The only difference between *Sutherland* and the case before the Court is that the plaintiff in *Sutherland* tried to detoxify himself formally at a treatment center while Ms. Hicks attempted to do it on her own with her husband. This is an irrelevant difference from a statute of limitations standpoint, because in both cases, the patient was aware of the alleged injury, its cause, and the person allegedly responsible more than two years before filing suit.

Sutherland is not the only precedent which required that the lower court grant Dr. Collins' motion for summary judgment. In PPG Architectural Finishes, Inc. v. Lowery, 909 So. 2d 47, 49 (¶6) (Miss. 2005), Lowery filed suit against a painting contractor for injuries caused by inhaling paint fumes. Over three years later, Lowery was allowed to amend her complaint to add PPG Architectural Finishes, Inc., as a defendant. Lowery, 909 So. 2d at 49 (¶6). PPG unsuccessfully moved for summary judgment on the grounds that the statute of limitations had expired before it was brought into the suit. Id. at 49 (¶7). The evidence in the case showed that the plaintiff had become ill, passed out, and sought medical treatment at an emergency room for exposure to paint fumes on the very day she was exposed. Id. at 48 (¶2). On appeal, the Supreme Court considered Lowery's actions in determining whether or not she knew or should have known of her injury and found that "[b]y her own admission, Lowery knew when, how and by whom she had been injured on the night of her acute exposure." Id. at 51 (¶16). It reversed the trial court's ruling and rendered judgment in favor of PPG. Id. at 52 (¶21). Likewise, in the case at hand, Ms. Hick's own testimony shows

that she "knew who, when, how, and by what [s]he had been injured" by at least the date of her visit to Dr. McGuire on August 25, 2000. *Sutherland*, 959 So. 2d at 1009 (¶16); see also Lowery, 909 So. 2d at 51 (¶16). As a result, Ms. Hicks' suit, filed more than two years later in September 2002, was time-barred.

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