IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

CASE NO: 2008-M-1233-SCT

ROGER COLLINS, M.D. AND LEFLEUR FAMILY MEDICAL CLINIC

DEFENDANTS/APPELLANTS

VS.

JEANNE HOLMES HICKS

PLAINTIFF/APPELLEE

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

INTERLOCUTORY APPEAL FILED BY DEFENDANTS/ APPELLANTS ROGER COLLINS, M.D., AND LEFLEUR FAMILY MEDICAL CLINIC, FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF HINDS COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT, CAUSE NO: 251-02-1171CIV

April 21, 2009

Margaret P. Ellis, MB#: 5110 Margaret P. Ellis, PLLC P. O. Drawer 1268 Pascagoula, Mississippi 39568-1268 Telephone: (228) 938-0111 Facsimile: (228) 762-5414 Kandepasms@aol.com

Attorney for Plaintiff/Appellee

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Defendants' argue that when Plaintiff filed her suit on September 6, 2002, that her statute of limitations had expired because she knew before August 25, 2000, that she was addicted to OxyContin® and her husband had already taken steps to help her through involuntary detoxification without medical assistance. This argument is based on Plaintiff's statement during deposition that she believed that she had gone through detoxification before her first visit with Dr. McGuire. (Defendants' Brief pp. 3, 7 & 8) However, in the same deposition. Plaintiff testified that she returned to Dr. Collins after her detoxification and that he refused to treat her. (Appendix A, R-102-103) Dr. Collins treated Plaintiff until November, 2000. The records indicate that Dr. Collins last prescribed OxyContin® on September 6, 2000, but that he continued to treat her thereafter with her last Hydrocodone prescription being November 5, 2000. Further, in Plaintiff's answers to interrogatories, number 8 (Appendix B, R-115,120,128) Plaintiff stated, under oath, as follows: "Plaintiff did not realize that she was addicted, however, her husband recognized that she was addicted when she finally could not get out of bed without taking this medicine. This was sometime after Defendant last prescribed OxyContin®²."(Emphasis supplied) (Appendix B)

¹Complaint was filed against Collins, LeFleur, Walgreens, and Purdue, et al. Motions for summary judgment were denied to all Defendants. All Defendants filed for interlocutory appeals, and this Court denied interlocutory appeals to Walgreens and Purdue, et al, and those cases were remanded to the circuit court. Plaintiff has now settled her claims against these two Defendants.

²Which was September 6, 2000.

Respectfully, with this conflicting testimony, the trial court recognized that there existed a question of fact which needed to be developed before the trier of fact, and summary judgment was properly denied.

Defendants also argue that Plaintiff's claims were barred by her unlawful conduct in obtaining OxyContin® and other addictive narcotics. However, it is clear when looking at the itemization of the drugs of Hydrocodone and OxyContin® prescribed solely by Defendants (all of which Defendants claim to have been lawfully given), that Plaintiff did not need to seek medications from other sources in order to obtain excessive amounts of these drugs. Thus, Plaintiff committed no wrong in obtaining these drugs from Defendants, and her claims were not barred by any alleged illegal conduct.

Therefore, whether Plaintiff knew or through the exercise of reasonable care, could have known that she was addicted two years before September 6, 2002, is a question of fact which should be decided by the trier of fact. See, *Schiro v. American Tobacco*, 611 So.2d 962 (Miss. 1992).

However, assuming *arguendo*, that Plaintiff did know she was addicted before September 6, 2000, Plaintiff was an addict, and as such, she was not competent to take any affirmative action to protect her rights. Due to the negligence and deviation from the standard of care by Defendants, Plaintiff suffered from unsoundness of mind and was incapable of discovering that she had an actionable injury. There is no question that Defendants Collins and LeFleur prescribed Hydrocodone and OxyContin® in excessive amounts as opined by Plaintiff's expert (See Appendix C), and her unsound mind was caused by Defendants' actions

ARGUMENT

I. Standard of Review

Defendants were not entitled to summary judgment and the trial judge correctly denied their motion. The evidence overwhelmingly presented a sufficient disagreement as to material facts to require its submission to a jury. *Anderson v. Liberto Lobby, Inc.*, 477 U.S. 242, 106 S. Ct. 2505, 91 LED. 2d (1986). Because Defendants failed to show that Plaintiff was time-barred by a two-year statute of limitations, and failed to establish that Plaintiff is barred by her own wrongful conduct, the summary judgment was correctly denied.

"A motion for summary judgment may be granted only where there is **no** genuine issue of material fact; summary judgment is not a substitute for the trial of disputed facts." *Bennett v. Madakasira*, 821 So.2d 794, 797 (Miss. 2002)(emphasis added). "Where summary judgment is at issue, the evidence must be viewed in the light most favorable to the party against whom the motion has been made. In those instances, all that is required of a non-movant to survive a motion for summary judgment is to establish a genuine issue of material fact." *Id.* Plaintiff established such and summary judgment was properly denied.

"[W]here one party swears to one version of the matter in issue and another says the opposite," or even where Plaintiff's testimony creates the confusion, summary judgment must be denied. *Id.* A genuine issue as to material facts exist which mandates denial of the summary judgment in this case. *Celatex Corp. v. Catrett*, 477 U.S. 317, 106 S.Ct. 2548, 91 LED. 2d 265 (1986). "The trial court cannot try issues of fact on a Rule 56 motion; it may only determne whether there are genuine issues to be tried." See, *Waggoner v. Williams*, ______So. 2d _____ (Miss. 2009), (Miss. Sup. Ct. opin. No. 2009-MS-0027.149, ¶ 13 (dec. Feb. 26, 2009), citing *Pollard v. Sherwin-Williams Co.*, 955 So.2d 764, 769 (Miss. 2007).

Plaintiff respectfully submits that the termination of litigation through the reversal of the lower court's denial of summary judgment would cause irreparable injury to the Plaintiff due to the fact that there are issues of material fact to submit to a jury. Respectfully, Defendants Collins and LeFleur have not met their burden and denial of summary judgment was proper and this matter should be remanded to the trial court and allowed to proceed for a trial before a jury.

II Plaintiff/Appellee's complaint was filed within the statute of limitations and Plaintiff is not barred from seeking recovery by any illegal actions.

Defendants last prescribed OxyContin to Plaintiff on September 6, 2000. They last prescribed Hydrocodone to Plaintiff on November 5, 2000. Plaintiff states in her deposition on page 126 (R-111) that she does not believe that she ever got another prescription for OxyContin® after she went through withdrawals. Thus, her withdrawals did not occur until after she had used the 60 OxyContin® tablets prescribed for her on September 6, 2000. Contrary to this statement, however, Plaintiff stated in her deposition that she believes she knew that she was addicted to OxyContin® prior to her first treatment by Dr. McGuire, which was August 25, 2000, on referral from Defendant Collins. Dr. McGuire performed surgery on January 21, 2001. If this is true, she would have gone through withdrawals sometime before August 25, 2000, and before she received her last prescription of OxyContin. Further, she would have also continued to see Dr. Collins for several months after her withdrawals, which is in conflict with her testimony (Appendix A, R-102-103) that she returned to Dr. Collins after her withdrawals so that he could see what he had done to her ³.

Defendants rely on the confusing testimony above to argue that Plaintiff Jeanne Holmes Hicks knew she was addicted to OxyContin prior to September 6, 2000, and that the statute of limitations had expired when she filed her lawsuit on September 6, 2002. However, Plaintiff submits that her withdrawal did not occur until after her treatment with Dr. Collins ceased, and we know that Plaintiff was treated on October 12, 2000, there was contact on October 18, 2000 for a refill (which was denied), and a prescription of Hydrocodone was given to Plaintiff by Defendants and filled on November 5, 2000. Respectfully, Plaintiff submits that the confusing facts do not support the granting of

³ Q. When did you ask him? A. I went back to him after that -- after all of this and finally got off the OxyContin and I went back and talked to his nurse and asked. Q. This was after you had been treated by Dr. Sivils? That is correct. And after I went and talked to the person on Lakeland Drive and before I saw Dr. McGrew, I went down there to see if there was any treatment center or what that I could go to or who I needed to talk to or what steps I needed to take because I wasn't going through what I went through ever again. Q. Okay. You say you talked to his nurse. Did you ever talk to Dr. Collins? A. No, but he was there. He heard everything. Q. And his nurse said we're not going to treat you, A. I wanted Dr. Collins to see what he had done. Q. You were there to punish him? A. In my mind, yes, sir. (R-102-103, Dep. pp. 92-93)

summary judgment, but requires submission to the fact finders for a determination. See, Schiro v. American Tobacco, 611 So.2d 962 (Miss. 1992).

However, assuming *arguendo*, that Plaintiff did know she was addicted before September 6, 2000, Plaintiff was an addict because of Defendants' negligent actions, and as such, she was not competent to take any affirmative action to protect her rights. Due to the negligence and deviation from the standard of care by Defendants, Plaintiff suffered from unsoundness of mind and was incapable of discovering that she had an actionable injury. The itemization below shows that from June 23, 1999, through November 5, 2000, Defendants Collins and LeFleur prescribed to Plaintiff the following medications:

<u>DRUG</u>

<u>QTY.</u> DR. and <u>DATE</u> <u>PHARMACY</u>

HYDROCODONE / APAP 10/500MG	6	Collins 6-23-99	Kroger
HYDROCODONE / APAP 10/500MG	6	Collins 7-02-99	Kroger
HYDROCODONE /APAP 10/500MG	2	Collins 7-07-99	Kroger
HYDROCODONE / APAP 7.5/500MG	3	Collins 7-28-99	Kroger
HYDROCODONE / APAP 10/500MG	3	Collins 8-06-99	Kroger
HYDROCODONE /APAP 10/500MG	6	Collins 8-20-99	Kroger
HYDROCODONE / APAP 10/500MG	2	Collins 8-30-99	Kroger
HYDROCODONE / APAP 10/500MG	8	Collins 9-17-99	Kroger
HYDROCODONE / APAP 10/500MG	6	Collins 9-22-99	Kroger
HYDROCODONE /APAP 10/500MG	30	Collins 10-21-99	Kroger
HYDROCODONE /APAP 10/500MG	16	Collins 10-28-99	Kroger
HYDROCODONE /APAP 10/500MG	16	Collins 10-31-99	Kroger
HYDROCODONE /APAP 10/500MG	8	Collins 11-11-99	Kroger
HYDROCODONE /APAP 10/500MG	10	Collins 11-15-99	Kroger
HYDROCODONE / APAP 10/500MG	60	Collins 12-03-99	Wal-greens
HYDROCODONE / APAP 10/500MG	60	Collins 12-06-99	Wal-greens
HYDROCODONE / APAP 10/500MG	60	Collins 12-11-99	Wal-greens
HYDROCODONE / APAP 10/500MG	60	Collins 12-15-99	Wal-greens
HYDROCODONE /APAP 10/500MG	2	Collins 12-20-99	Kroger
HYDROCODONE /APAP 10/500MG	100	Collins 1-20-00	Wal-greens
HYDROCODONE / APAP 10/500MG	2	Collins 2-02-00	Kroger
HYDROCODONE / APAP 10/500MG	16	Collins 2-02-00	Kroger
			-

HYDROCODONE / APAP 10/500MG	8	Collins 2-04-00	Kroger
HYDROCODONE /APAP 10/500MG	60	Collins 2-07-00	Kroger
HYDROCODONE /APAP 10/500MG	30	Collins 2-14-00	Wal-greens
HYDROCODONE / APAP 10/500MG	10	Collins 4-16-00	Kroger
HYDROCODONE / APAP 10/500MG	20	Collins 7-14-00	Kroger
HYDROCODONE /APAP 10/325MG	60	Collins 7-24-00	Wal-greens
HYDROCODONE /APAP 10/500MG	16	Collins 7-31-00	Kroger
HYDROCODONE /APAP 10/325MG	60	Collins 8-02-00	Wal-greens
HYDROCODONE /APAP 10/325MG	60	Collins 8-16-00	Wal-greens
HYDROCODONE /APAP 10/325MG	60	Collins 8-20-00	Wal-greens
HYDROCODONE / APAP 10/325MG	16	Collins 8-25-00	Kroger
HYDROCODONE /APAP 10/325MG	40	Collins 9-20-00	Wal-greens
HYDROCODONE /APAP 10/325MG	40	Collins 9-22-00	Wal-greens
HYDROCODONE /APAP 10/325MG	40	Collins 10-03-00	Wal-greens
HYDROCODONE /APAP 10/325MG	40	Collins 10-09-00	Wal-greens
HYDROCODONE / APAP 10/325MG	50	Collins 10-12-00	Wal-greens
HYDROCODONE / APAP 10/325MG	40	Collins 10-23-00	Wal-greens
HYDROCODONE /APAP 10/325MG	40	Collins 10-30-00	Wal-greens
HYDROCODONE /APAP 10/325MG	10	Collins 11-05-00	Wal-greens
OXYCONTIN_40MG	10	Collins 9-24-99	Wal-greens
<u>OXYCONTIN 40MG</u>	12	Collins 9-27-99	Wal-greens
<u>OXYCONTIN 40MG</u>	4	Collins 9-28-99	Beemon
<u>OXYCONTIN_40MG</u>	30	Collins 12-21-99	Wal-greens
OXYCONTIN_20MG	30	Collins 12-30-99	Wal-greens
<u>OXYCONTIN_40MG</u>	30	Collins 1-03-00	Wal-greens
OXYCONTIN_40MG	45	Collins 1-13-00	Wal-greens
<u>OXYCONTIN 40MG</u>	45	Collins 2-25-00	Wal-greens
OXYCONTIN 40MG	45	Collins 3-07-00	Wal-greens
<u>OXYCONTIN_80MG</u>	60	Collins 3-15-00	Wal-greens
OXYCONTIN_80MG	30	Collins 3-27-00	Wal-greens
OXYCONTIN 80MG	60	Collins 4-01-00	Wal-greens
OXYCONTIN_80MG	30	Collins 4-10-00	Wal-greens
OXYCONTIN 80MG	30	Collins 4-17-00	Wal-greens
OXYCONTIN_80MG	30	Collins 4-20-00	Wal-greens
OXYCONTIN 80MG	30	Collins 4-26-00	Wal-greens
OXYCONTIN 80MG	60	Collins 5-02-00	Wal-greens
OXYCONTIN_80MG	21	Collins 5-17-00	Wal-greens
OXYCONTIN 80MG	21	Collins 5-24-00	Wal-greens
OXYCONTIN 80MG	21	Collins 5-30-00	Wal-greens
OXYCONTIN 80MG	21	Collins 6-05-00	Wal-greens
OXYCONTIN 40MG	21	Collins 6-12-00	Wal-greens
<u>OXYCONTIN_40MG</u>	28	Collins 6-15-00	Wal-greens

OXYCONTIN 40MG	30	Collins	6-20-00	Wal-greens
OXYCONTIN 40MG	30	Collins	6-26-00	Wal-greens
OXYCONTIN 40MG	60	Collins	6-30-00	Wal-greens
OXYCONTIN 40MG	4	Collins	7-07-00	Eckerd
OXYCONTIN 40MG	25	Collins	7-17-00	Wal-greens
OXYCONTIN 40MG	60	Collins	8-08-00	Wal-greens
OXYCONTIN 40MG	60	Collins	8-28-00	Wal-greens
OXYCONTIN 40MG	60	Collins	9-06-00	Wal-greens

This Court can readily determine by the number of OxyContin® prescriptions (31) and the number of OxyContin® tablets (1,583), not including other mind-altering drugs prescribed by these Defendants, that these drugs were being prescribed in excessive amounts. For example, on August 8, 2000, Defendants prescribed 60 OxyContin®; on August 16, 2000, Defendants prescribed 60 Hydrocodone; on August 20, 2000, Defendants prescribed 60 Hydrocodone; on August 25, 2000, Defendants prescribed 16 Hydrocodone; on August 28, Defendants prescribed another 60 OxyContin®; on September 6, 2000, Defendants prescribed another 60 OxyContin®; on September 20, 2000, Defendants prescribed another 40 Hydrocodone; on September 22, 2000, Defendants prescribed another 40 Hydrocodone; on October 3, 2000, Defendants prescribed another 40 Hydrocodone; on October 9, 2000, Defendants prescribed another 40 Hydrocodone; on October 12, 2000, Defendants prescribed another 40 Hydrocodone; on October 23, 2000, Defendants prescribed another 40 Hydrocodone; on October 30, 2000, Defendants prescribed another 40 Hydrocodone; and finally, on November 5, 2000, Defendants prescribed another 10 Hydrocodone. As to Defendants' conduct regarding these excessive prescriptions and treatment rendered by Defendants, Plaintiff's expert opined as follows:

Dr. Collins prescribed narcotics in excessive amounts and frequency, which resulted in the patient becoming dependent and addicted to these pain relievers. Dr. Collins also fell below the standard of care by prescribing Oxycontin in combination with other narcotics contrary to known recommendations against this practice. Dr. Collins fell below the standard of care by providing many early refills of narcotics, knowing that this would increase the likelihood of dependency and addiction in the patient. Dr. Collins also negligently prescribed Oxycontin at a frequency greater than the recommended twice-daily dosage, further increasing the potential of dependency and addiction in Ms. Hicks." (R-60-61, Appendix C).

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